Entertainment in the Playford era: the changing scene
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Tom Playford was not known for his empathy with the arts. As premier and treasurer, Playford was able to influence government spending: his main concern was the industrial development of the state. The arts held little interest for him, and he genuinely believed that they were ‘frills not fundamentals’.
 Thus, throughout Playford’s administration arts and entertainment received little government support. But this was nothing new, for the entertainment world had always been the province of commercial entrepreneurs or amateur groups.

Even during the debilitating depression of the 1930s, professionals and amateurs continued to present theatrical entertainments, and, for those who could afford the price of admission, a few hours in the theatre or cinema provided some respite from the worries of the world. The wireless brought entertainment into the home and provided families with drama programs, as well as music, news and sport, for the initial cost of the set and a licence.

Advances in technology bring about changes in the presentation of entertainment. Similarly although some plays, musicals, ballets, operas and even circuses stand the test of time and remain popular for generations, the performing arts are also constantly evolving. Changes in society's mores influence variations in the artistic world and in turn public tastes are influenced by what is presented. But show business is business, and the economic motive essentially determines what is presented to the public as entertainment.

In the Playford years there were major changes in the entertainment sphere in South Australia, generally initiated by the private sector. In this period new technologies included advances in cinema presentation, drive-in theatres and television. In the theatre, professional individuals and companies were brought to South Australia by entrepreneurs, but local amateur groups continued to flourish. In the music world, while classical music retained its place, popular music changed from the swing era to rock’n’roll, bringing forth new bands and groups which attracted a huge following among the young and created a whole new market for the entrepreneurs. Towards the end of the period the Festival of Arts was established, again largely through the efforts of a few individuals. In 1965 the Australian Dance Theatre, the first professional modern dance company in Australia, was founded by Elizabeth Dalman, and the State Theatre Company was formed.

Setting the scene

From the earliest days of European settlement Adelaide has been provided with theatrical entertainment, and naturally this has created a need for performance venues. The city's first theatre, a small auditorium above the Adelaide Tavern in Franklin Street, opened in 1838. This was followed by a more substantial building, the Queen’s Theatre, which can still be seen in Gilles Arcade, off Currie Street. Built by the Solomon brothers, the theatre was brought to life in January 1841 with a performance of Othello. Over time, bigger and better theatres were constructed. The Majestic Theatre in King William Street, known at first as White's Rooms, opened in 1856, the Theatre Royal in Hindley Street in 1868, King’s in King William Street in 1911, and the Tivoli in Grote Street in 1913. There were even seasonal open-air theatres, while smaller theatres and halls in the city, suburbs and country towns also provided venues for a variety of entertainment. The advent of moving pictures in. the twentieth century heralded the conversion of some existing theatres, or the construction of new cinemas, to show films.

One of the best known cinema entrepreneurs was Dan Clifford. By the late 1930s his chain of suburban picture theatres included leased premises at the Thebarton, Hindmarsh and Woodville Town Halls, and specially constructed cinemas such as the Norwood Star, and the Capitol at St Peters. Although most of this development was in metropolitan Adelaide, some country towns were catered for: Clifford leased a hall in Kadina and later ran cinemas in Murray Bridge and Mount Gambier. In 1938 he opened his first city cinema when he renovated the old Central Theatre in Wakefield Street and opened it as the New Star Theatre. The following year he built the Vogue at Kingswood, the first new theatre since 1929. Perhaps the crowning achievement of his enterprises was the art deco style Piccadilly, his twentieth theatre, which opened in North Adelaide in 1940. ‘Comfort’ was the main theme used in its promotion: it boasted good ventilation, heating and restful seats. The last of his theatres to open was the New Goodwood Star in 1941. Building restrictions during the Second World War halted any further construction for years.

Clifford’s rivals in the picture theatre chain business were brothers Ewen and Clyde Waterman, (both later served on the Board of Governors of the Adelaide Festival of Arts) who established the Ozone Circuit in the suburbs at about the same time. There was also the small Windsor circuit at Brighton, Lockleys, Hilton and St Morris, and a few independent theatres.

To add to the number of city cinemas, one new and one refurbished theatre opened in the city in 1939. The Metro was designed to specifications of the architectural department of Metro Goldwyn Mayer (MGM) in the United States, while Wests, opposite it on Hindley Street, was completely renovated in art deco style. But for many years the opulent Regent Theatre, opened in 1928, was the ultimate in theatre design. Its magnificent marble staircase, lush fittings, statuary and crystal chandeliers provided its patrons with glimpses of an extravagant and romantic world. The Regent, above all other picture theatres in Adelaide, epitomised the glamour which was synonymous with Hollywood and its movie stars. A night out at the Regent was indeed an occasion. The importance of setting the right ambience for the audience was recognised as being as important as the quality of the entertainment in attracting customers.

During the 1920s the professional theatre in Adelaide retained its popularity. However, it lost out to the cinema in the depression of the 1930s, partly due to the cheaper seats offered at the pictures, and partly due to lack of funds which curtailed the production of quality theatrical and variety shows.
 Some vaudeville artists were reduced to earning a living by appearing on stage at picture theatres before the feature film. Although there was a lack of professional productions, amateur theatre continued to thrive with various groups in Adelaide producing plays and musicals on a regular basis.

In the 1930s theatre became ‘a middle-class/upper-class pastime’, and perhaps a once-a-year treat for working-class families.
 Several factors probably contributed to this change. The effects of the depression, coupled with an amusement tax levied on the price of admission, may have influenced some people to choose the cheaper cinema entertainment.
 Certainly the movies became the entertainment of the ordinary working family and it is significant that the two entrepreneurs of picture theatre chains, Clifford and Waterman, established their first cinemas in the industrial suburbs of Port Adelaide, Semaphore, Thebarton and Torrensville.
 In fact in the 1940s the Australasian Exhibitor classified films as ‘industrials, classes, smalls, or bush’. ‘Industrials’ obviously went well in working-class areas, while ‘classes’ catered to a more middle-range clientele.

‘Going to the pictures’
By 1936, with the easing of the depression and centenary celebrations to enjoy, a more optimistic outlook prevailed. At last there was more money for entertainment and picture theatres in the suburbs began to show films on some week nights as well as on Saturdays.
 To attract audiences the New Empire Theatre in Grote Street advertised that it was ‘up-to-date, cool and hygienic’ and offered three and a half hours of first-class ‘talkie’ entertainment at the cheapest admission prices in Adelaide – 1s 2d in the dress circle and 1s in the stalls on Saturday nights. It was even cheaper for the mid-week Wednesday show.
 But price was not the only factor which had a bearing on theatre attendances: in 1937 an outbreak of polio reduced audience numbers, through fear of contracting the disease, and at various times alternative forms of entertainment, such as racing and trotting events, had a marked effect. However, the financial situation of the larger circuits was improving by the time Tom Playford took over as premier indicating that cinema going had increased.
 There were about 9,000,000 attendances at films during 1938. With a total population of 598,000 in South Australia at the time that was the equivalent of every man, woman and child going to the pictures fifteen times a year.

By the start of the Second World War there were 131 permanent picture theatres in South Australia. The reduced availability of consumer goods meant there was more money for entertainment and the picture business boomed.
 Many servicemen on leave made up part of the audience. The authorities, both military and civilian, saw entertainment as important in maintaining morale in wartime. Light entertainment was preferable, although newsreels brought the news of the war closer to this part of the world. Propaganda pieces were also screened, but the main feature was more often than not pure escapism, and generally the more lavish style of the American films proved to be more popular than the British product.
 By this time cinema-goers far outnumbered theatre-goers, perhaps due to the more numerous screenings of films, the easy access to cinemas in the suburbs, and the reduced standards of the professional theatre offerings. There was a brief setback in business towards the end of 1945 when electricity cuts forced most suburban cinemas without auxiliary power plants to close.

Although attendances at cinemas fell away after the war
 (a further polio outbreak in 1949 reduced the number of children attending) ‘going to the pictures’ on a Saturday night remained the once-a-week outing for many people. In the 1950s it was still regarded as an occasion that warranted good dressing, and even the manager of the theatre appeared in a dinner jacket. It was an acceptable place for a boy to take his girl and this was the time when the ‘love seats’ were popular, particularly with the young couples. The subject of the film showing was generally immaterial, for this was the regular night out, and many people had permanent bookings. Most of the films shown were general family entertainment because the Australian censorship rules were such that any extremely violent or horror films were cut or even banned.
 Children attended the matinees where they watched Western serials, cartoons and the like while eating Fantales and Jaffas bought from ‘tray boys’. A report of the closure for renovations of the Strand at Glenelg in 1956 demonstrates the comfortable feel of suburban theatres for regular patrons:

Granny Kiesewetter, 102 years old, was presented with a Life Pass. She sang When I grow too old to dream, the audience sang Happy Birthday to her, then Auld Lang Syne and so ended the last program shown in the Strand Theatre.

An innovative entertainment venue arrived in the mid-1950s when drive-in theatres began to spring up on vacant land in the suburbs and country towns. This type of theatre enabled many families to go out for an evening together as they could take their young children with them. Some of the theatres provided barbecue areas as well as cafeterias, so that family groups could have their evening meal before the show. By this time more families owned cars, and they were more accessible to young people who liked the informality of this type of theatre. They could smoke, eat and drink, did not have to ‘dress-up’, and had some privacy for their dating. By 1960 there were drive-ins at Christies Beach, Berri, Loxton, Murray Bridge and Kadina as well as eight in the suburbs. Even Radium Hill had an open-air cinema, although a car was not compulsory there.

Films made in Australia were a new attraction. The Australian industry revived after the war with films such as Bitter Springs, The Overlanders, Smiley and Jedda, which starred two Aboriginal actors. Bitter Springs was greeted as a major achievement with Prime Minister Menzies attending the world premiere at Wests Theatre on 23 June 1950.
 Other Australian films, although with international actors, were Kangaroo, The Shiralee, Robbery Under Arms, On the Beach and The Sundowners. The outdoor sequences of some of these movies were filmed at various locations in South Australia and the world premiere of Robbery Under Arms was held at Port Augusta in 1957. These films brought a new perspective to the Australian industry as they were not self-consciously ‘Australian’ but were stories of general interest which happened to be set in Australia.

The screening of foreign language films reflected the changing composition of the Australian population. The Rex in Rundle Street and the Curzon at Goodwood began showing European films from the mid 1950s. Besides attracting members of the growing multi-cultural population of Adelaide, these films appealed to the ‘intellectuals’, often academics and students, who regarded them as superior to the American or British product. But their appeal was broader and as early as 1949 the Theatre Royal showed a six-week season of foreign films chosen to appeal ‘not only to the intelligentsia but to all types of moviegoers’.

Live theatre

While films attracted many people, variety shows remained popular. In March 1939 three vaudeville shows were on in Adelaide: ‘Folies D’Amour’ from London was playing at the Royal, a ‘Big Company of International Stars’ was appearing at the Tivoli, and Coleman’s Follies could be seen at the ‘huge’ Canvas Theatre in Flinders Street. Prices there ranged from 2s to 1s.
 These canvas theatre companies, which also travelled through country towns, were somewhat akin to circuses. Large marquees with seating for up to 1,200 were erected on vacant sites, and the stage was formed from the semi-trailers used to transport the scenery and equipment. These touring groups came to an end with the onset of the war when travelling restrictions came into force.

Local entrepreneurs such as Alec Regan also staged variety shows from time to time, with Adelaide's own Roy Rene (Mo McCackie) appearing at the Majestic in 1940.
 But Adelaide always had to wait for big shows in live entertainment to come from Sydney or Melbourne, generally from ‘The Firm’ as J. C. Williamson’s was known. However, in the 1930s, local companies such as the Adelaide Musical Comedy Company, an enthusiastic group of amateurs, produced several shows a year. These were staged at the Theatre Royal and the proceeds were donated to charities. Prices ranged from 6s in the stalls and dress-circle to 2s in the upper circle. The first night was often attended by the Governor and Lord Mayor, with a party held on stage after the show. The prices of the better seats were higher than those charged at the cinema and may have been considered too expensive for the average working man who earned about £4 7s a week in 1938.

Shortages during the war made it difficult for entrepreneurs to mount major productions. However, from 1943 to 1946 musicals, plays such as Arsenic and Old Lace and Blithe Spirit, as well as ballets, were staged at the Theatre Royal.
 Variety shows and the annual Christmas pantomime remained favourites. These shows continued after the war although at this time big production American musicals became enormously popular. In 1948, 65 performances of Annie Get Your Gun, starring Evie Hayes, attracted some 87,000 patrons, almost a full house for every performance. Oklahoma, which employed no less than nine American ‘stars’, followed in 1949. The Theatre Royal was the only theatre considered for prestige companies, and so the Majestic continued with variety shows. Thanks for the Memory, which featured George Wallace and Jim Gerald, was so popular that three extra matinees were put on.

While these shows were not in the least controversial, the Sumner Locke Elliott play Rusty Bugles, presented at the Majestic in 1949, caused Richard McKenzie (ALP) to ask Premier Playford to consider suppressing the play because of its ‘filthy language’. Playford replied that it was up to the Police Commissioner. It was not banned, nor did any irate letters appear in the Advertiser, whose reviewer called it an 'important contribution to Australian theatre’.

With the end of the war, overseas artists could again travel to Australia. Among the first to come from Britain, in 1948, were Laurence Olivier and Vivien Leigh who appeared at the Theatre Royal in Richard III and School for Scandal. They attracted a great deal of publicity and were treated almost as royalty, ensuring good attendances at their performances. Hundreds of people queued all night in Rundle Street to be sure of obtaining good seats, prompting the editor of the Advertiser to comment that this was ‘convincing proof of the survival of a strong general taste for the legitimate theatre’.

This was not borne out by the fate of other examples of ‘legitimate theatre’. The only home-grown theatre productions were by amateur groups such as the Adelaide Repertory Theatre, and while these were often very competent they did not have the ‘pulling power’ of an imported company. Local productions of French plays in 1948 were not well patronised, although Chekhov’s Seagull was successful. Nevertheless, the amateur groups persisted and put on a series of classical plays in the city as well as touring country areas. But the Arts Council of South Australia, a division of the Australian Council for the Arts, which administered federal grants under the aegis of the state government, was discontinued in 1952 due to lack of government support. The groups that had received some assistance from the council battled on alone, with varying results. One production would fail while another enjoyed relative success, culminating in 1956 with Faust, which was the ‘most successful failure ever seen in Adelaide’.
 The commercial managements were not willing to gamble on new or innovative works unless there was some guarantee of a good financial return. This attitude relegated lesser known works to the little theatres.
 It was generally accepted that certain productions would not attract good audiences and some plays, including Australian plays, were staged ‘in the expectation of poor houses’.
 The ‘cultural cringe’, in relation to Australian works and often towards Australian artists, was very much in evidence in the 1950s. The Elizabethan Theatre Trust was formed in 1954 following the failure to establish a National Theatre.
 Writing in 1955 on the future of Australian theatre, its director, Hugh Hunt, claimed that the public, used to American and British imports, did not readily accept the home-grown product.

However, arts consciousness increased during the 1950s.
 In this decade John Edmund began his career in Adelaide, producing plays such as Cat on a Hot Tin Roof and Under Milkwood, for the Independent Repertory Theatre. He established his own Theatre ‘62 at Hilton in 1962. For many years church-based theatrical groups, such as the Therry Society which had strong Catholic links, formed an important part of the entertainment scene in the suburbs as well as in country towns. In 1944 Therry’s first production, The Way of the Cross, was performed for three nights at Easter. In August the society’s first major production, Quality Street, played for one night only, with an admission charge of 3s for a reserved seat. From these small beginnings the society went on to greater achievements.
 Immigrants also established their own groups to present plays in their native language: the Lithuanian Theatre group, formed in 1949, was followed by others.
 Few professional productions reached country areas, although some towns had their own active groups. The establishment of the Mount Gambier Theatre group in 1955 and the Whyalla Players in 1957 provided more accomplished productions for those regions.

While the amateur groups experienced varying fortunes, professional theatre flourished in the major Australian cities. Following on the heels of the Oliviers other imported husband and wife teams toured the country. John McCallum and Googie Withers featured in Laura and The Deep Blue Sea (1956) and Dame Sybil Thorndike and Sir Lewis Casson starred in The Chalk Garden (1958).
 The return of Adelaide-born Dame Judith Anderson in Medea was a drawcard in 1955. A new Australian play, Ray Lawler’s Summer of the Seventeenth Doll, was staged in Adelaide in August 1956 to high acclaim. The success of this play, later made into a film with English and American actors to attract international audiences, was probably instrumental in beginning the move away from the mistaken belief that anything Australian was somehow ‘inferior’.

With the demise of the Theatre Royal in 1962, after a series of attempts to save it, Adelaide was left with only one theatre suitable for big productions. J.C. Williamson’s modernised the old Tivoli, making improvements both backstage and front of the house, and the renamed Her Majesty’s opened in November 1962 with The Mikado, an old favourite staged with a new look. Part of the refurbishment was the abolition of the old, dusty, backless benches of the gallery. Not everyone welcomed their departure. In spite of the discomforts of the ‘gods’, many regular theatre-goers had belonged to the ‘Gallery First Nighter’s Club’. Tickets at very cheap rates available at the box office shortly before curtain-up were obtained by the fortunate, often after queuing for hours. Then there was a mad rush up the stairs to gain the best position in the gallery. For these people theatre going was never quite the same again.

Grand and not-so-grand opera

Grand opera is not to everyone’s taste but for the devotees a veritable feast of operas was performed by the Italian Grand Opera, brought out by J.C. Williamson’s, in 1949. Due to financial reasons Adelaide had missed out on the previous Imperial Grand Opera tour in 1932. In the interim local companies such as the Elder Conservatorium and the Intimate Opera Group provided the only opera seasons. For this post-war event the first-night was a glamorous social affair with many men in white ties and tails and the women in long gowns and furs.

Through the 1940s and 1950s at least one program of opera was presented in Adelaide each year. Grand operas such as Tosca or Madam Butterfly were interspersed with some of the less popular works. Gilbert and Sullivan’s comic operas remained perennial favourites and always attracted good patronage, hence a season of ‘G & S’ each year was almost mandatory. In fact they were The Firm’s ‘infallible stand-by in time of trouble’.

The Elizabethan Theatre Trust’s season of four Mozart operas in 1956 was its first venture into opera.
 The production of The Marriage of Figaro attracted large audiences in Adelaide which ‘exceeded expectations’. Reversing the trend of a few years earlier this production had no ‘big name’ imported artists but was a wholly Australian company. The ‘cultural cringe’ was again in evidence in the Advertiser review: ‘This absence of internationally famous names might cause some hesitation at first among a certain section of the public’, wrote John Horner, but then declared that the whole cast was good and provided ‘first-class popular entertainment for brows of all heights’.
 Again the opening night was a vice-regal gala affair.

While the national opera company played to good houses, the South Australian National Opera Group, formerly the Adelaide Opera Group, soon found that lighter entertainment was more popular. Following a substantial loss on their production of The Turn of the Screw in 1960, the company moved towards productions of operetta.
 As with drama, financial considerations won out over artistic endeavour. Unless it was a big production from interstate, a well-known ‘popular’ work, or there was a big ‘star’ to attract, only the dedicated opera buffs attended. When Joan Sutherland appeared in 1965 in Lucia di Lammermoor people went to see her, other productions in the series did not attract such good houses.

The concert hall

Orchestral concerts have always been well-patronised in Adelaide. From 1936 when the Australian Broadcasting Commission began sponsorship of concerts in the Adelaide Town Hall ‘Adelaide has maintained its concert going tradition’.
 In 1948 Henry Krips became resident conductor of the Adelaide Symphony Orchestra (renamed the South Australian Symphony Orchestra in 1949) and for the next twenty-three years he exerted a strong influence on the orchestra, extending its repertoire from the standard works towards new and more adventurous compositions. With John Bishop at the Elder Conservatorium, Adelaide’s concert life was in good hands. Subscription concerts in the Adelaide Town Hall in the 1950s and 1960s were always well patronised and in 1962 a record number of season tickets for orchestral concerts by the South Australian Symphony Orchestra were sold.
 Perhaps the greatest treat for concert lovers was the appearance of the London Philharmonic Orchestra, under the baton of Sir Malcolm Sargent, at the 1962 Adelaide Festival of Arts.

Open-air concerts also attracted good crowds, with up to 6000 people attending performances at the University Oval and the Botanic Garden as part of the jubilee celebrations in 1951.
 The Royal tours of the 1950s and early 1960s brought a return of open-air concerts in Elder Park and these attracted many thousands of people. Perhaps the crowds came to see the Royals as much as to hear the music, but nevertheless these concerts gave many people the opportunity of hearing a symphony orchestra.

Civic band concerts and lunch-hour organ recitals at the Town Hall also provided city people with musical entertainment. Various choirs both in the city and country gave many ordinary people the opportunity to be part of a musical tradition and to sing in public. Groups such as the Adelaide Singers and the Glenlea Singers performed regularly on ABC radio and the commercial station 5DN through the 1940s and 1950s.
 The Barossa Valley has a long tradition of German choral music, while the post-war influx of migrants resulted in different ethnic groups forming their own choirs.

Ballet

According to the late international ballerina, Helene Kirsova, ‘Australians are a Ballet conscious people’.
 This was confirmed by Allan Aldous, who commented on the ‘extreme’ popularity of ballet in Australia, and South Australians share this enthusiasm.
 In 1940 a small group of ballet students, led by Joe Siebert, established ‘Les Ballets Contemporains’ which performed for a small audience in a converted house in North Adelaide called the Studio Theatre.
 In the post-war period Joanna Priest was the doyen of the local ballet scene and worked on many productions.

As part of the commonwealth jubilee celebrations in 1951 the National Theatre Ballet Company danced one of Priest’s ballets, The Listeners, on the same program as a new ballet, Corroboree, choreographed by Rex Reid with music by John Antill. Performed by white dancers in black masks, Corroboree was ‘received with enthusiasm and bizarre excitement’, although ‘nothing so scientific or unimaginative as exact imitation [of Aboriginal dancing] has been aimed at’.

The Borovansky Ballet Company made regular visits to Adelaide in the 1950s, performing mainly the classic repertoire which could always ensure good attendances. So keen were some balletomanes that in the winter of 1954 dozens of fans queued all night in cold and bleak weather to be sure of good seats.
 Following Borovansky’s death in 1959 the Australian Ballet was formed and first appeared in Adelaide in December 1962.

Mount Gambier-born Robert Helpmann, an international dancer and actor, staged his modern ballet The Display, based on the courtship dance of the lyrebird, at the Tivoli in 1964 as part of the Festival of Arts. This was another all-Australian work with music by Malcolm Williamson and sets by Sidney Nolan. It was enthusiastically received, although some people found the symbolism ‘shocking’, while on others it was completely lost.
 Helpmann followed this with other innovative works performed at later Festivals.

Radio and television

If theatre and ballet attracted a somewhat select audience, radio and later television were the entertainment media of the masses. Radio broadcasts began in South Australia in the 1920s. In its early days the wireless, often the size of a small cabinet, had pride of place in the living rooms of many homes, perhaps taking the place of the piano and gramophone, although in the 1930s the cost of a set, ranging from £9 to £35, made it a very expensive item for many households. The high price was not prohibitive, though, since 76,365 radio licences were issued in South Australia in 1935.
 Music and drama were the main features of both commercial and national broadcasters. The ABC produced one-hour plays, and a commercial station broadcast the Lux radio theatre on Sunday evenings at 8 p.m.
 In the 1940s and 1950s humour and variety featured in locally-produced shows: 5DN's Radio Canteen was recorded before a live audience in Adelaide and provided work for local entertainers.
 Serials such as Blue Hills and When a Girl Marries, produced interstate, became essential listening for many families. Stations also aired imported shows, with British comedies such as Take It From Here and The Goon Show keeping British immigrants happy and amusing Australians as well. Quiz shows compered by Bob Dyer or Jack Davey, emanating from Sydney, were also enormously popular through the 1950s, as well as the Quiz Kids aimed at children and adults. Sports broadcasts, especially Test cricket from England and local football, provided a new dimension for spectator sports. And beginning in February 1940, Tom Playford took advantage of this medium to give weekly broadcasts over 5AD.

Television has undoubtedly had the greatest impact on the entertainment industry since the advent of moving pictures. Movies enticed people out of their homes and into the cinema; this new technology meant that people could stay home to be entertained. In 1949 an article in the Advertiser suggested that television ‘was unlikely to replace theatre — people [will] still go out to a show’.
 But in the early days of TV people did stay at home — in droves. Television transmission began in Adelaide in September 1959, and by June 1960 when there were three channels, 84,967 licences had been issued in South Australia.
 By June 1964 this number had risen to 194,430, but still trailed the 266,027 radio licences issued that year.
 Television gradually spread to country areas as transmission improved. In the early 1960s, when the state suffered an economic slump, television gave people entertainment at home. Although at around £200 the cost of a set was expensive, it soon came to be considered almost an essential item, especially as it could be purchased on time payment.

In the early years the top programs were American serials such as 77 Sunset Strip and Wagon Train.
 Even so, local artists found new opportunities in live-to-air shows such as Adelaide Tonight and Stairway to the Stars, which gave 16 year-old Julie Anthony her career start. To cater for the growing teenage interest in popular music Bandstand and Six O’Clock Rock began production in the eastern states in late 1958 and early 1959 respectively. And to confirm the theory that ‘middle-of-the-road’ entertainment will always attract audiences, Bobby Limb’s Sound of Music reached Number 10 on the National Top 10 programs of 1965.

The proliferation of TV sets sounded the death knell for many suburban and some city theatres, and eventually changed the style of the remaining city theatres. In America, to combat the small screen entertainment, film companies introduced wide screens and stereophonic sound to enhance the spectacular productions of films such as The Robe and Ben Hur. These innovations arrived in theatres in South Australia before the advent of television, so cinema-goers had experienced these attractions before the lure of the small screen kept them at home. The availability of entertainment in the home probably encouraged people to become more particular about what they went out to see, but at the same time they were less discriminating about the programs they watched on television. With news available daily on television the two small Newsreel theatres in the city resorted to showing films but eventually closed. Even childhood favourites such as pantomimes and circuses felt the impact of television, and the demise of Wirth's Circus in 1963 was blamed on competition from ‘the box’.

Television also virtually brought to an end variety shows staged in a theatre, although the old troupers were not to be completely forgotten. In the 1960s some hotels began to entertain their guests with vaudeville acts. This was a reminder of much earlier days in Adelaide when entertainment of various kinds had been provided in city hotels.

The ‘pop’ scene

Popular music in the 1940s and early 1950s was played mainly on the radio and ‘live’ in dance halls, as ballroom dancing was a recreation enjoyed by many. Some of South Australia’s well-known jazz musicians, such as Bobby Limb, Errol Buddle, Bruce Gray’s All-Stars and Dave Dallwitz’s Southern Jazz Group, had their start in this way.
 The Adelaide College of Music trained some of these musicians as well as many other young people through the 1930s and 1940s. The college’s annual On Parade show, first held at the Theatre Royal in December 1939, always attracted a capacity audience.

Then in the mid 1950s rock’n’roll burst on the scene — or rather on the ears. This heralded the beginning of the youth culture. Individual artists and pop groups became the icons of the young. Even in conservative Adelaide young people, with greater freedom and more money to spend, could find their type of entertainment in places like the Princeton Club. Groups such as the Penny Rockets or ‘names’ from interstate, such as Johnny O’Keefe or the Delltones appeared there. The Penny Rockets also performed at cinemas where the young people danced in the aisles. 
 While many pop idols enjoyed enormous popularity, none could match the appeal of the Beatles. Their visit in June 1964 drew crowds to the streets in numbers not experienced since the Royal Tour of 1954.
 A vociferous mob blocked the roadway in front of the Town Hall and later jammed North Terrace until the ‘Fab Four’ appeared on the balcony of the South Australian Hotel.
The Festival of Arts

For years Professor John Bishop, Colin Ballantyne, and other people in the music and theatre world including Don Dunstan, the Labor MP for Norwood, aspired to foster greater interest in the arts in South Australia. The Playford Government was not very interested. Playford, ever careful about public expenditure, did not see why governments should fund the arts since these were part of the ‘non-productive area’. Thus Professor Bishop, with the backing of Sir Lloyd Dumas and other business leaders, established the Festival of Arts with little government assistance. One of the aims of the Festival, first held in March 1960, was to make the arts more accessible to ‘people of a parochially-minded and geographically disadvantaged area’ and to promote Adelaide as a centre of culture.
 The Festival was intended to be innovative, to show new works, and to be controversial at times, yet the requirement to attract audiences remained. Hugh Hunt estimated that one could not 'rely on more than five per cent of the population supporting the live theatre regularly', but it was hoped that Adelaide people would support this ambitious event, which indeed they did.

The first Festival was considered a success, and this augured well for the future of the event. At the second Festival in 1962 it was claimed that 200,000 people attended the main attractions, while a further 188,000 went to the ‘Festival Fair’ designed as family-type entertainment. A journalist, John Miles, later wrote that the ‘mass enthusiasm’ for the Festival encouraged people to attend events that perhaps normally they would not, and that when it was all over ‘some of the culture sticks’.

Although the Festival was successful in an artistic sense it did not return a profit and was underwritten by various local bodies. While the success was pleasing, some of those involved in the program were disappointed in the conservative members of the Festival's Board of Governors who imposed constraints on productions. They would not sanction the staging of Alan Seymour’s One Day of the Year in case it upset the Returned Sailors’ and Soldiers’ Imperial League of Australia (later the Returned Services League). In 1962 they rejected Patrick White’s The Ham Funeral on the grounds that it had ‘no commercial appeal, no chance of monetary success [and] was a coterie play for a minority of highbrows’.
 Thus the Festival perpetuated the premise of theatrical entrepreneurs that, while alternative or ‘art’ theatre interested a minority of theatre-goers, most people preferred to be ‘entertained and not educated’.
 Robert Helpmann, Artistic Director of the Festival in 1970, dismissed words such as ‘art’ and ‘culture’ as pretentious and stated that ‘the object of all stage presentation was entertainment’.

As well as a shortage of suitable venues and the problems with the Board of Governors, the ultra- conservative image of Adelaide concerned the Festival conveners. A commentator in the Australian Quarterly remarked on ‘the dead Sundays, six o’clock closing time on weekdays ... and the noticeable shortage of good hotels, restaurants and night clubs’.
 Many people pushed for changes to ensure the Festival became a successful international event, and so it served as a vehicle for social change as well as helping to establish Adelaide as a centre of culture.
 But it was not until a Labor government under Don Dunstan came to power that many of these changes took place.

Only in 1963, after two festivals and the demolition of the Theatre Royal, did Playford respond to the calls for a new theatre complex. He offered £400,000 and a similar long-term loan towards the building of a cultural centre, providing the Adelaide City Council found £100,000 and the public subscribed a similar amount.
 Until the Festival Theatre opened in 1973 the city continued to be short of good large theatres. The Majestic was converted to a picture theatre in 1969 leaving only Her Majesty’s to cater for large productions. However, by the end of Playford’s time in office three successful Festivals had been staged and the future of the event was assured.

Finale

By the time Playford bowed out of the limelight the entertainment world in South Australia had undergone considerable change. While the classic plays, as well as modern dramas, operas, operettas and new musicals, were performed by both professionals and amateurs, vaudeville had virtually disappeared from theatres. Quiz shows, serials and some sports were moving from the radio to the new medium of television, which by 1965 was available to a very large section of the community. The cinemas and drive-in picture theatres were continuing their battle with the small screen. And the Adelaide Festival of Arts was established, giving South Australians the chance to indulge in a varied program of artistic events every two years.

By 1967, with a new government, led by Don Dunstan, a some-time thespian himself, South Australia looked forward to further changes in many areas, not least of which was greater interest in the performing arts.
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